THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

SEP - 9 2014

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001537

Theodore Cobbs, # 330717,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Brooks R. Fudenberg
LAW OFFICE OF BROOKS R. FUDENBERG,
LLC
1004 Anna Knapp Blvd., Suite 3
Mt Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 416-2558
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Ashleigh R. Wilson
Assistant Attorney General
SC Office of the Attorney General
Post-Conviction Relief Section
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3737

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the lower court err in allowing Applicant's counsel to conduct the PCR hearing without first hearing Applicant's motion to have counsel removed?
- II. Must prejudice be shown where a PCR Hearing is conducted without a hearing on a timely motion to remove counsel?
- III. Where a criminal complaint testified that Petitioner had been raping her on a regular basis, and a physician, having been subpoenaed by the opposing side, testified *in camera* that her examination had shown the hymen to be intact, was it ineffective assistance to fail to call the physician to tell the jury the hymen was intact?

OVERVIEW

Background: The Criminal Case

A year after he moved out of their mother's home and began living with another woman, two teenage daughters began accusing Petitioner, Theodore L. Cobbs, Jr., of having sexually abused them on almost a habitual basis since elementary school days. They testified that he had physically and psychologically abused them as well. Petitioner urged his trial counsel to obtain a witness to testify that a gynecological examination of one of the complainants, conducted after he had allegedly begun regularly and repeatedly having sex with her, showed an intact hymen. They failed to do so.

At trial, the prosecution presented the doctor who had conducted the examination for an *in camera* examination on related issues. She testified *in camera* that the hymen was intact. The trial judge ruled that the defense could call the doctor to testify to the same before the jury. Defense counsel failed to do so.

The error was highly prejudicial. A hymen remaining intact through regular and repeated vaginal intercourse over a period of years is sufficiently uncommon that the evidence could and most likely would have given jurors pause as to whether that

complainant was telling the truth. Moreover, since each of the two complaining sisters testified that she had seen the Petitioner similarly abuse the other complainant, evidence that he had not in fact had sex with the one would necessarily have called into doubt the testimony of the other.

The PCR

Petitioner was represented at the hearing on his application for post-conviction relief by Charles T. Brooks, III, Esq., who had filed a motion, to which Petitioner's initially-appointed counsel consented, to be substituted as Petitioner's counsel.

Due to what he saw as Mr. Brooks' rampant failure to provide assistance of counsel, Mr. Cobbs filed a *pro se* motion to remove Mr. Brooks as counsel. Mr. Cobbs mailed his motion two weeks before the evidentiary hearing on his application; it was stamped "Filed" ten days before that hearing. Petitioner's motion detailed Mr. Brooks' failures to meet or even speak with him; to obtain documents from certain institutions and from his trial counsel, and the like; and specifically complained of Mr. Brooks' failures to obtain witnesses and documents relating to the hymen issues above.

Yet the PCR hearing was conducted without the Judge being informed that Petitioner had asked to have counsel removed.

The PCR judge orally denied the application at the conclusion of the hearing. Even before the judge issued a final written order, Petitioner sent a *pro se* motion to reconsider, citing his motion to have counsel removed and arguing that the PCR hearing should not have proceeded without at least an inquiry into that motion. The Judge denied his motion to reconsider as untimely.

Mr. Cobbs should be provided a new PCR action to count as his first (i.e., not a “successive”) PCR. At the very least, any failure of PCR counsel to vigorously and effectively pursue Petitioner’s claim regarding the complainant’s intact hymen should not be held against Mr. Cobbs. This Court should examine the issues without deference to the lower court which never should have heard the matter, and without considering whether issues were waived by PCR counsel who never should have been in a position to “waive” issues on Petitioner’s behalf, and conclude that the failure to introduce evidence of the complainant’s virginity subsequent to the alleged rapes deprived Petitioner of a fair trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted in Charleston County for five counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree; eight counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree; and two counts of unlawful conduct toward a child. App. 4:17- 5:24. Represented by Carl Grant and Eduardo Curry, Esquires, he was tried on September 15-19, 2008, before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., and a jury. Judge Nicholson directed verdicts of not guilty on one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and on one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. App. 945:21-946:1. The jury found Appellant guilty on the other thirteen indictments. Judge Nicholson sentenced Appellant to twenty-eight years for the first count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, ten years, consecutive, on the first count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, ten years, concurrent, on each of the unlawful conduct toward a child indictments, and twenty years, concurrent, on each of the remaining charges. *Id.* at 1174:23-1175:12.

Petitioner was represented on direct appeal by the Division of Appellate Defense, Joseph L. Savitz, III, Esquire. The conviction was affirmed in an unpublished opinion dated June 30, 2011.

Petitioner filed his PCR application on January 30, 2012, alleging numerous ways his trial and appellate counsel were ineffective. Joshua B. Cantwell, Esq. was appointed to represent him on February 27, 2012. App. p. 1290. On May 29, 2012, Charles T. Brooks, III, Esq. was substituted as counsel, via consent of Mr. Cantwell and Mr. Brooks. App. p. 1291.

Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion to remove Mr. Brooks as his PCR counsel, dated May 6, 2013. App. pp. 1312-14. The motion alleged various failures on the part of Mr. Brooks. The PCR hearing was conducted on May 20, 2013, before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson, without a hearing on Petitioner's motion to have his PCR counsel removed.

At the conclusion of that hearing, Judge Jefferson announced her decision denying all relief. The next day, i.e., May 21, she filed a form Order denying all relief and instructing the Attorney General to draft a proposed Order. App. p. 1315.

Three days later, on May 24, Petitioner mailed a *pro se* motion to reconsider. It was stamped "filed" on May 30. Judge Jefferson issued two orders filed on July 11; one an order dismissing the PCR, and the other an order dismissing Petitioner's *pro se* motion to reconsider. App. pp. 1328-43.

Notice of appeal of the dismissal of the PCR was timely filed by PCR counsel, and notice of appeal for the dismissal of the *pro se* motions to remove counsel and to reconsider were timely filed by Petitioner, *pro se*.

As he had asked to have his PCR counsel removed, and as he was alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, Petitioner moved this Court, by motion filed August 9, 2013, to appoint outside counsel. The undersigned was appointed by Order of this Court dated September 19, 2013.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL FACTS

The Underlying Criminal Case

A year after he moved out of their mother's home and began living with another woman, two teenage daughters began accusing Petitioner, Theodore L. Cobbs, Jr., of having sexually and physically abused them on almost a habitual basis since elementary school days. *See, e.g.*, App. 800:5-7, 804:13 (he moved out shortly after an incident in the summer of 2004); 524:19-25 (first report to law enforcement was in August of 2005); 1144:2-6 (he was living with another woman at that time).

When notified of the warrants, he turned himself in. App. 622:20-24. He rejected a plea offer that would have allowed him to avoid incarceration, with the prosecution not objecting to probation in lieu of confinement. App. 1327. Free on bond, without ankle monitoring, App. 1120:23 - 1121:3, he showed up for trial.

He was convicted on multiple counts of sexual conduct with a minor and two counts of unlawful conduct toward a child. He was sentenced to 28 years on one count, consecutive with ten years on another, for an effective sentence of 38 years. Sentences on the remaining counts, at ten and twenty years each, were concurrent to the others. App. 1174:23-1175:12.

He had met the girls' mother in 1992 and moved in with them, although "not right away." App. 748:11-23. They lived in a variety of residences, moving from North Carolina to the Charleston area in 1994, living in several homes in the greater Charleston area. *Id.* at 749:4-751:25.

The two Complainants alleged that he had begun "grooming" them sexually when each reached approximately six years of age, quickly escalating from digital penetration to cunnilingus and fellatio, with full sexual intercourse to completion beginning with each around age nine, and continuing regularly thereafter. *See generally* App. pp. 221-366 (testimony of Child 1, the older daughter); 366-522 (testimony of Child 2, the younger complainant). The jury found this was proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and convicted him of all charges that were submitted to them. App. 1127:1129:8.

Most important for present purposes, the allegations were that he had been engaging in vaginal sexual intercourse with the older girl on a regular basis since an early age, well before the age of eleven.¹ Yet that older child had had a gynecological exam in July of 1998, when she was between 12 and 13 years of age. App. p. 200:15-22 (exam was in 1998); p. 221:4 (she was born in 1985). *See generally* App. pp. 199-208. That

¹ The jury made no finding as to the precise age at which this vaginal intercourse began, but it was obviously before she reached age eleven, as required for the first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge. *See also* App. p. 1348 (affidavit attached to warrant, stating that he "did commit a sexual battery upon the child victim [Child 1] who is under eleven years of age. To wit: Sexual intercourse." It further alleges, *id.*, that "while she was between the ages of 9 and 10 years of age, the defendant, who was her mother's boyfriend, "was sexually assaulting her repeatedly. She described incidents in which the defendant would force her to have sexual intercourse with him.")

exam showed no bruising or tears. Yet this was inexplicably not brought to the attention of the jury.

Background Re: The Exam

Petitioner had been asking his trial counsel to obtain the results of the gynecological exam of the chief Complainant. Pursuant to pre-trial motions, the prosecution summoned to the courtroom Dr. Sara Elizabeth Schuh, who had conducted the follow-up examination, and with whom the prosecution had been communicating, although it was the defense that actually called her to the stand for the *in camera* proceedings. Tr. 200:15-22 (Dr. Schuh did the follow-up exam); 166:17-18 (prosecution met with Dr. Schuh).

Dr. Schuh was a pediatrician at MUSC during the time in question. She is now retired. At the time of her retirement, she was the director of the sexual assault center and the program for evaluation of children. Tr. 200:4-14. She conducted the follow-up examination of the older child in 1998. *Id.* lines 15-22.

She testified that she had reviewed the photographs from the exam, which allowed her to refresh her memory. Tr. 202:3-7.

Her testimony continued,

But the photographs which I reviewed show no evidence of bruising and tears but lesions typical of herpes simplex virus or what would be called genital herpes.²

² Dr. Schuh corrected herself on the type of herpes; it was actually Type One, which is present in 90% of the population. Accordingly, the Judge refused to allow in evidence of the Herpes infection. *See, e.g.*, App. 202:24 - 203:14 (Dr. Schuh testifying that a culture grown from the virus showed it to be Type One); App. 1177 (Def's. Ex. 2, p. 2) (lab report faxed to Dr. Schuh from MUSC on the morning of her testimony) (showing the virus was Type One); Tr. 164:25-165:2 (Prosecutor representing that Dr. Schuh told her

Id., lines 14-17 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel followed up, 204:22-25 (emphasis added),

Q. Now, Doctor, just to follow up. Doctor, you said that there was no evidence of bruising or tears?

A. I didn't see any, no.

Dr. Schuh's examination above was on the second day of the proceedings. Two days later, the following exchange occurred outside the presence of the jury:

Mr. CURRY: Well, first of all, let me back up. Dr. Schuh in her testimony, mysteriously, I don't know why she said it, she said there was no evidence of bruising or tears.

THE COURT: If you want to use Dr. Schuh, that's fine. I have no problem with that. We can go into that examination. But I'm not going to let you just throw up an exam before the jury with no follow up on it and insinuate that there was something wrong.

Tr. 854:4-23 (emphasis added).

The transcript continues:

THE COURT: Now, if you want to do it and you bring Dr. Schuh in, that's fine. I have no problem with that.

MR. CURRY: That's fine. And what we'll do is, if we're going to do it, we'll do it through Dr. Schuh. We understand.

Id. lines 14-18(emphasis added).

The failure to call Dr. Schuh is inexplicable, as trial counsel clearly recognized that such evidence goes to the question of whether they were having sex. App. 847:8-21:

THE COURT: I understand. On the exam, the DSS exam. What does that have to do with anything?

that Type One is present in 90% of the population); *id.* at 182:20-21 (the Court ruling that "if it's Type One, then it's not coming in, period.")

MR. CURRY: It does not have to deal with the issue of diseases. It is dealing with the issue of when you go to an OB-GYN they'll check to see if the hymen is intact, whether or not there's a tear. It goes to that issue there as to whether or not they were having sex.

Now, if in fact that it is shown that it was normal in '98 or normal in 2000, then that's a factual analysis for the jury to make a determination as to whether or not or when it happened, with regard to credibility.

The Direct Appeal

Petitioner was represented on direct appeal by the Office of Appellate Defense, Joseph Savitz, Esq. He filed a one-issue appeal challenging the trial court's refusal to allow the defense to show a compilation of home movie clips that, the defense maintained, would rebut the prosecution's theory that the Defendant kept the family intimidated, which was the reason the prosecution advanced to explain the long delay in reporting the alleged events. The Court of Appeals affirmed on June 30, 2011, via a one-page unpublished opinion, No. 201 I-UP-355.

The Action for Post-Conviction Relief

Mr. Cobbs filed his PCR application on January 30, 2012, raising numerous issues, including the failure to prepare for the introduction of exculpatory evidence concerning the results of the examination and to present an expert medical witness to so testify. Application, p. 7, ¶ 1(d).

The Application further asked that counsel be appointed for him. Joshua B. Cantwell, Esq. was accordingly appointed on February 27, 2012. On May 29, 2012, Charles T. Brooks, III, Esq. was substituted as counsel, via consent of Mr. Cantwell and Mr. Brooks. A hearing on the application was set for a year later, May 20, 2013. Two

weeks prior to the hearing, Applicant mailed a motion asking the Court “to remove Charles T. Brooks, III, from my PCR application and assign another lawyer in the interests of justice.” App. 1313 (Mot. Remove Counsel, p. 2). He complained generally that “Mr. Brooks has not done anything to ensure I receive due process of law,” *id.*, and listed particulars including the failures to obtain certain records and to subpoena certain people, and the failure “to obtain a[n] expert witness” to assist with the allegations.

The Motion to Relieve Counsel

The hearing went forward before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson. PCR counsel began that hearing with Applicant’s motion to have Judge Jefferson recuse herself. PCR Hr’g Tr. 2:2 - 6:25 (App. 1181:2 - 1184:25). Although she was the judge who had ordered that his electronic monitoring be turned off while he was out on bond, App. 120:23 – 121:3, Petitioner thought it better to begin anew with a judge fresh to the case. Judge Jefferson declined to recuse herself. Hr’g Tr. 6:24-25 (App. 1184:24-25).

Immediately thereafter, Petitioner attempted to broach the subject of his motion to have his PCR counsel replaced, and the Judge, apparently thinking he was attempting to continue to argue the recusal motion, refused to hear him.

APPLICANT: Your Honor, may I say something, please?

THE COURT: Briefly, yes, sir.

APPLICANT: I just want you to have this. Can I hand this to –

THE COURT: Sir, I have already entertained the Motion and denied it. So there will be no further argument, pursuant to the Rules. The court is not going to reconsider its decision. I have denied the Motion because there is no basis for it.

Now, Mr. Brooks has indicated to the court that he is ready to go forward. I suggest that if there is any additional information you need to provide to him so

that he can be ready to question the witnesses, that you do that now.

But I am not going to belabor something that I have already ruled on. The Rules provide that you have counsel, he has spoken for you and that once the court has ruled that there is to be no further argument on the issue.

Id., 7:3-25 (App. 1125:3-25) (emphasis added).

The hearing thus continued with Mr. Brooks as counsel. The Judge offered PCR counsel the opportunity, if he felt the need at the end of the hearing, to call witnesses, subpoena experts, and reconvene the proceedings. Hr'g Tr. 11:14-24 (App. 1189:14-24). He did not do so.

Judge Jefferson orally ruled against the Petitioner at the hearing. Hr'g Tr. 86:11-13 (App. 1264:11-13). Four days later, Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion under Rule 59(e) to reconsider, alter or amend, App. p. 1316, explicitly raising the failure to hear his motion to remove and replace counsel, Mot. Recon. p. 4 (App. 1319). The PCR judge denied his motion as untimely, on grounds it was filed before the final written order issued, App. p. 1342 (Order filed 7/11/13 denying Mot. Recon.), although the motion had asked that it "also cover any and all written orders of denial of his PCR application." Mot., p. 1 (App. 1316).³

³ Although the PCR judge stated that she "fully considered" the Motion, she did not address the merits.

The Applicant's Motion is untimely, as a Final Order has not yet been issued by the Court. It is premature for the Court to consider the merits of the Applicant's Motion until a Final Order is issued. Having fully considered the Plaintiffs Motion for Reconsideration filed May 24, 2013, as well as the untimeliness of the Motion, the Plaintiff Theodore Cobbs' Motion for Reconsideration is hereby dismissed as premature.

App. 1342 (Order on *pro se* motion to amend, p. 1) (emphasis added).

Petitioner timely filed a pro se notice of appeal of the order denying his motion to reconsider, and PCR counsel timely filed a notice of appeal of the order denying the application for post-conviction relief.

ARGUMENT

PETITIONER SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW PCR OR A NEW TRIAL

I. PETITIONER SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW PCR WITHOUT BEING REQUIRED TO SHOW PREJUDICE.

Motions to relieve counsel are, for obvious reasons, an exception to the rule that *pro se* motions will not be considered if the party is represented by counsel. “Since there is no right to ‘hybrid representation’ that is partially *pro se* and partially by counsel, substantive documents, with the exception of motions to relieve counsel, filed *pro se* by a person represented by counsel are not to be accepted unless submitted by counsel.” *Miller v. State*, 388 S.C. 347, 347, 697 S.E.2d 527, 527 (2010) (emphasis added).

PCR hearings held without a hearing on a timely-made motion to have counsel removed should automatically result in a remand. It is akin to “structural error” in criminal cases. Prejudice need not be shown for such errors. *See, e.g., Edmond v. State*, 341 S.C. 340, 346, 534 S.E.2d 682, 685 (2000) (citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306-10, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 1263-65, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302; 329-32 (1991)),

a “trial error” occurs during the presentation of case to jury and is amenable to harmless-error analysis because it may be quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented in order to determine the effect it had on the trial; these are distinguished from structural defects in the constitution of the trial mechanism, which defy harmless error analysis.

As the Court explained, “These are structural defects in the constitution of the trial mechanism, which defy analysis by harmless-error standards and which affect[] the

framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself.” *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 247, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 309-10 (1991)).

This Court has noted the unfair difficulties of proof that would occur if one were required to show “prejudice” in such instances.

We find this error is not amenable to harmless-error analysis and requires reversal without a particularized prejudice inquiry. *See Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. at 150 (“We have little trouble concluding that erroneous deprivation of the right to counsel of choice, ‘with consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate, unquestionably qualifies as structural error.’ . . . Harmless-error analysis in such a context would be a speculative inquiry into what might have occurred in an alternate universe.”)

Id. at 247-48, 741 S.E.2d at 706 (quoting *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140 (2006)). The Court reiterated the point, *id.* at 248, 741 S.E.2d at 706, quoting *Luce v. United States*, 469 U.S. 38, 41-42, (1984) for the proposition “that ascertaining prejudice requires ‘the court [to] know the precise nature of the defendant’s testimony, which is unknowable when, as here, the defendant does not testify’ and finding an ‘appellate court could not logically term “harmless” an error that presumptively kept the defendant from testifying.’”⁴

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