STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001537

THEODORE COBBS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ASHLEIGH R. WILSON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737
#100269

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 29 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court did not err by failing to entertain the Petitioner's *pro se* request for new counsel when the Petitioner never raised the issue to the lower court, the Petitioner abandoned any requests for new counsel by proceeding with appointed counsel at his evidentiary hearing, the Petitioner failed to show satisfactory cause for removal of counsel, and the interest of justice would not be served by entertaining Petitioner's post-hearing complaints about PCR counsel.

In his Petition, the Petitioner asserts this Court should grant a new trial or in the alternative a new post-conviction relief hearing based on the lower court's failure to address the Petitioner's cursory requests to obtain new post-conviction relief counsel. The Respondent submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review. The Petitioner never filed a *pro se* motion to relieve counsel and the Court was never given the opportunity to rule on such request. If this Court is inclined to construe the Petitioner's *pro se* musings about post-conviction relief counsel as a *pro se* motion to relieve counsel, the Respondent submits this Court should follow its ruling in State v. Graddick and find no reversible error. The Respondent asks this Court to deny and dismiss the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

A. This issue is not preserved for appellate review.

As an initial matter, the Respondent submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review. The lower court was never presented with a motion to relieve counsel and the Petitioner failed to make such a request at his evidentiary hearing. It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised, but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727.

The Respondent submits the Petitioner never filed a *pro se* motion to relieve counsel. Ten days prior to his evidentiary hearing, the Petitioner filed an “Affidavit of Applicant”. (App. 1312-14). In this filing in the very last paragraph, the Petitioner says “At this time I would like to ask the Court to remove Mr. Charles T. Brooks, III, from my PCR application and assign another lawyer in the interest of justice.” (App. 1313). Because the Petitioner’s filing was not captioned a motion to relieve counsel, it was properly disregarded by the Court as a filing in violation of the prohibition against hybrid representation. The filing’s caption provided no indication to the Court that the Petitioner was making a *pro se* request to have counsel relieved. See State v. Stuckey, 333 S.C. 56, 508 S.E.2d 564 (1998) (“Since there is no right to “hybrid representation” that is partially *pro se* and partially by counsel, substantive documents, with the exception of motions to relieve counsel, filed *pro se* by a person represented by counsel are not to be accepted unless submitted by counsel.”)

Even if this Court construes the Petitioner’s “Affidavit of Applicant” as a proper *pro se* motion to relieve counsel, the Petitioner abandoned his request to relieve counsel at the evidentiary hearing by willingly proceeding with his present post-conviction relief counsel. At the start of the evidentiary hearing, post-conviction relief counsel indicated to the Court that the Petitioner had a motion for recusal that he wanted to bring to the Court’s attention. (App. 1181:4-6, 18-20). After denying the motion for recusal, the Court gave the Petitioner the opportunity to express his concerns about post-conviction relief counsel’s representation. The Petitioner tells the Court “this is the first time of seeing this man. It’s been only, what? Ten minutes? And he’s all ready to go to trial? I don’t know what he’s got prepared for my case.” (App. 186:1-5). The Petitioner goes on to tell the Court he wanted PCR counsel to subpoena a medical expert. (App. 1186:8-9). The Court explains to the Petitioner the purpose of his post-conviction relief action

and the legal standard that would be applied to his claims (App. 1186:10-1187:24). After this colloquy with the Court, the Court asks the Petitioner “Sir, is there anything else that you want to tell me?” The Petitioner responded “No.” (App. 1189:25-1190:2).

The Petitioner never indicated to the Court during his evidentiary hearing a desire to have his counsel removed. He was given ample opportunity by the Court to raise the issue if he did not want to proceed with appointed post-conviction relief counsel. The record is also void of any indication that counsel was aware of the Petitioner’s desire to relieve him. The Respondent submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review. The Petitioner’s request to relieve counsel was not expressed to the Court in a *pro se* motion to relieve counsel. If the Petitioner wanted to have counsel removed, he abandoned his request by proceeding with counsel at the post-conviction relief hearing. Because this issue was not properly raised to the lower court, it was also not ruled on by the lower court and is not proper for appellate review.

B. The lower court’s failure to entertain the Petitioner’s *pro se* requests for new counsel is not reversible error.

If this Court is inclined to construe the Petitioner’s *pro se* “Affidavit of Applicant” as a properly raised *pro se* motion to relieve counsel, the lower court’s failure to entertain and rule on the issue is not reversible error. This Court should following its reasoning in State v. Graddick, 345 S.C. 383, 548 S.E.2d 210 (2001). In Graddick, the appellant filed a *pro se* letter addressed to the trial court four days before the start of his trial asking for help firing his attorney. The record in Graddick contained no action by the Court in response to this letter. This Court found no reversible error and held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant appellant’s request for a new counsel days before trial. The Court went on to hold the appellant made only conclusory arguments about why his counsel should be relieved: “Mr. Runyon is not

representing my interest and is not fully prepared for this case. I do not feel comfortable going to court with him as my lawyer.” Id. at 385-386, 548 S.E.2d at 211.

Like in Graddick, the Petitioner in this case submitted a *pro se* filing asking the Court to fire his attorney several days before his court proceeding. Also like in Graddick, the lower court took no action in response to the Petitioner’s filing. The Petitioner in this case also failed to carry his burden of showing a satisfactory cause for removal. In his *pro se* filing, the Petitioner complained he was unable to reach counsel by phone and that counsel did not subpoena certain people he wanted present for his evidentiary hearing. (App. 312-1313). At his evidentiary hearing, the Petitioner complained that he had just met counsel and did not know what counsel was prepared to present in his case. (App. 186:1-5).

A motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Id. at 385. “While an applicant may have the right to reject or discharge court-appointed counsel and proceed *pro se* or retain his own counsel, he does not have the right, without a showing of satisfactory cause to refuse or dismiss the counsel appointed and have other counsel appointed. Richardson v. State, 377 S.C. 103, 106, 659 S.E.2d 493, 495 (2008). The Respondent submits the Petitioner has failed to show satisfactory cause for removal of his post-conviction relief counsel. This Court should also consider persuasive the Petitioner’s decision to abandon his request for new counsel and proceed with appointed counsel at his evidentiary hearing. This Court should find no reversible error for the lower court’s failure to entertain the Petitioner’s *pro se* request for new counsel.

The Respondent submits further the lower court did not err in failing to entertain the Petitioner’s post-hearing complaints about post-conviction relief counsel in his *pro se* “Notice of

Motion and Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing”¹. Compelling judicial interest would be poorly served if the lower court were required to entertain a *pro se* motion to relieve counsel after the conclusion of a proceeding in which a criminal defendant was unsuccessful.

“A defendant’s right to have a lawyer of his or her choosing is an essential element of the Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel. The individual’s right to counsel of his choosing, however, is not an absolute right. Rather, the right is circumscribed by the need for the orderly administration of justice. The exercise of the right to counsel of choice may neither “obstruct orderly judicial procedure” nor “deprive courts of the exercise of their inherent power to control the administration of justice.” United States v. Ellerbe, 172 F.3d 864 (4th Cir. 1999).

Entertaining a *pro se* request to relieve counsel after the Petitioner’s claims have been fully litigated and rejected by the Court would essentially be equal to giving the Petitioner a second “bite of the apple” with new counsel merely because he expressed dissatisfaction with the outcome of his proceeding. Cf. State v. Cabrea-Pena, 350 S.C. 517, 533-34, 567 S.E.2d 472, 481 (Ct. App. 2002) aff’d in part, remanded in part, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 (2004) (“There is a presumption that a defendant’s post-trial request for the assistance of counsel should not be refused. However, there are times when the criminal justice system would be poorly served by allowing the defendant to reverse his waiver at the last minute particularly where delay would result”). Also, judicial resources should not be expended on matters which have fully run their course in the lower court and been concluded.

The Petitioner also asserts he should receive a new post-conviction relief hearing in the alternative to this Court granting a new trial. The basis for the Petitioner’s request for a new post-conviction relief hearing appears to be his argument that the Court’s failure to entertain the Petitioner’s request for new counsel was a “structural error” that should automatically result in

¹ The Respondent notes this *pro se* filing, though ruled on by the lower court, should be considered a nullity since the filing violated the prohibition on hybrid representation. See Miller v. State, 388 S.C. 347, 697 S.E.2d 527 (2010) (holding since the Petitioner was represented by counsel, the *pro se* motion was not proper, should not have been accepted, should not have been ruled on, and was essentially a nullity).

remand. The Respondent submits the Petitioner's reliance on "structural error" is misguided. There is no question from this Court's holding in Graddick that under this factual circumstance the Petitioner has the burden of proving an abuse of discretion and a satisfactory cause to remove counsel. State v. Graddick, 345 S.C. 383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001).

Lastly, the Petitioner claims the Court's alleged failure to entertain his *pro se* request for new counsel resulted in prejudice because trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call the doctor who examined the victim as a witness at trial.² The Respondent is unable to ascertain how **trial counsel's** performance at trial could be used to support the Petitioner's claim that the lower court erred by not entertaining the Petitioner's *pro se* motion to relieve **post-conviction relief counsel**.

Nevertheless, the Respondent submits there is probative evidence to support the lower court's finding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to present an expert witness to testify regarding the victim's herpes and intact hymen. (App. 1338). For the Petitioner to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006).

The Court correctly found trial counsel articulated a valid strategic basis for his decision not to call as a witness the doctor who examined the victims. (App. 1338-1339). "Representation

² On page 3 of the Petition, the Petitioner comments "At the very least, any failure of PCR counsel to vigorously and effectively pursue Petitioner's claim regarding the complainant's intact hymen should not be held against Mr. Cobbs." The Respondent notes the issue regarding the victim's hymen was pursued by post-conviction relief counsel and ruled upon by the lower court. (App. 1338-1339). What appears to be the Petitioner's arguments regarding the effectiveness of post-conviction relief counsel are terribly misguided since South Carolina does not recognize as proper claims regarding post-conviction relief counsel's ineffectiveness. See Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 409 S.E.2d 392 (1991); Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551 (1987) ("There is no constitutional right to appointed counsel for collateral review of a conviction."); and Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722 (1991) ("The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel does not extend to state post-conviction relief action.").

is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” Strickland at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel’s performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

At the evidentiary hearing, both of the Petitioner’s attorneys articulated a valid strategic basis for their decision not to call the doctor as a witness at trial. They stated they spoke to the Petitioner about the issue, had concerns about the hymen evidence backfiring, and had problems finding factual evidence to support the Petitioner’s claims about the victim’s previous medical history. Counsel also testified he did not see a need to hire an expert witness to testify about the victim’s hymen and herpes. (App. 1125:2-1226:6, 1233:18-1234:13, 1246:10-15). There is probative evidence to support the lower court’s finding that the Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving counsel was ineffective for failing to present testimony from the doctor who examined the victim’s at trial. The Respondent submits this Court should affirm the lower court’s denial of post-conviction relief and deny the Petition.